In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



CORPORATE ACCOUNTABILITY LAB,

Appellant,

 ν .

SAMBAZON, INC.,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division in Case 2023 CAB 1954 (Honorable Shana Frost Matini, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

KIM E. RICHMAN, ESQ.
DC BAR NO. 1022878
RICHMAN LAW & POLICY
1 Bridge Street, Suite 83
Irvington, New York 10533
(914) 693-2018
krichman@richmanlawpolicy.com

Attorney for Appellant

April 22, 2024



RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Plaintiff-Appellant Corporate Accountability Lab (CAL) brought a claim under the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act (CPPA), D.C. Code § 28-3901 et seq., against Defendant-Appellee Sambazon, Inc. CAL alleged that Sambazon made misleading representations to District consumers by marketing its açaí product supply chain as thoroughly monitored and free from child labor. In reality, CAL alleged, child labor is endemic to the açaí industry, and Sambazon's supply chain is not as protected as the company promises. CAL sought declaratory and injunctive relief, and alleged just one count, violation of the CPPA. The lower court had jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code §§ 28-3905(k)(1)(B), (k)(1)(D), and (k)(2). On November 14, 2023, the lower court, following a choice-of-law analysis, granted Sambazon's motion to dismiss *in toto* based on application of California law. On December 1, 2023, CAL filed its notice of appeal from that decision. This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721 and D.C. Rules of Appellate Procedure 3 & 4.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) Did the Superior Court err in finding a true conflict between the District of Columbia's Consumer Protection Procedures Act (CPPA), D.C. Code § 28-3901 et seq., and California's Unfair Competition Law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., on the facts of this case?

- (2) Assuming a true conflict existed, did the Superior Court err in its application of the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts of Laws Section 145 factors when it found that California had the stronger governmental interest?
- (3) Assuming the Superior Court's conflict-of-law holding was error, did defendant's remaining arguments require dismissal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CAL filed its Complaint in Superior Court on March 28, 2023, alleging that Sambazon violates the CPPA by making false and misleading statements about the labor conditions in its açaí berry supply chain. (Complaint ("Compl.") ¶¶ 14-22, 61-67; A9-11, A18-19.)¹ CAL asserted its standing to contest these misrepresentations as a nonprofit organization under D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(C), which authorizes such suits on behalf of the general public, and as a public interest organization under Section 28-3905(k)(1)(D), which allows suits if a District consumer could also sue. (Compl. ¶¶ 62-63; A18.). In addition to the overwhelming evidence of child labor as endemic and foundational to the açaí harvesting industry, CAL identified specific evidence that defendant, contrary to Sambazon's promises, its own supply chain is porous and does not guarantee the absence of child labor. Two Brazilian açaí merchants, identified in CAL's Complaint by name, have stated, for example, that

¹ CAL also named Ecocert USA, creator of the "Fair for Life" certification program used by Sambazon, as a defendant. CAL voluntarily dismissed its claims against Ecocert USA on September 12, 2023.

they sold berries to ships supplying Sambazon with "no questions asked" about the origin of those berries. (*Id.* \P 40; A14.)

On its products and consumer-facing website, however, Sambazon makes representations inconsistent with this reality:

"[B]y creating our own responsibly managed supply chain . . . we can establish a direct connection between our farmers and our consumers. [W]e oversee the traceability of the Organic Açaí, from the moment it is wild harvested and transported by riverboats, to its inspection by hand. . . ." (Compl. ¶ 10; A8.)

"[A]ll Sambazon products are ethically sourced." (Id. ¶ 23; A11.)

"[Sambazon] care[s] for the people [it] works with." (*Id.*; A11.)

"Every time you enjoy [Sambazon's Fair for Life Certified açaí products] you're . . . directly giving back to family farmers who harvest wild Açaí" by driving a "Fair Wages & Labor Practices." (*Id.* ¶ 24; A11.)

"Each time you purchase a SAMBAZON product, you can feel good knowing you are helping the Amazon and its people" (*Id.* ¶ 25; A12.)

"We believe in transparency. And we understand how important it is to know the food you and your family consume is of the highest quality, while also being ethically sourced, transported, and processed. By creating our own supply chain, we can oversee every step of its journey, from the moment our fair trade food is hand-harvested and transported by riverboats, to its inspection (by hand) and environmentally responsible processing. It's our guarantee to you: From the palm of the tree to the palm of your hand." (*Id.* ¶ 26; A12.)

Sambazon also claims that its "Fair for Life" certification means it follows "rigorous standards" for "respect of human rights and fair working conditions," and "ensur[es] no child/slave labor occurs." (*Id.* ¶¶ 27, 28; A12-13.)

In its Complaint, CAL alleged that Sambazon violates the CPPA, given the reality on the ground, by representing to D.C. consumers that its açaí goods "have a source" or "characteristics" they lack; representing the goods as possessing a "standard, quality, grade, style, or model" they do not; misrepresenting a "material fact" with a tendency to mislead; failing to state a material fact whose omission has a tendency to mislead; using innuendo or ambiguity as to a material fact, with a tendency to mislead; and advertising the goods without the intent to sell them as advertised, in violation of D.C. Code § 28-3904(a), (d), (e), (f), (f-1), and (h). (Id. ¶ 67; A19.) CAL also alleged that these misrepresentations are material, as consumers care deeply about child labor and will change their purchase habits if they became aware of a brand using child labor. (Id. ¶¶ 47-52; A16-17.) CAL sought injunctive and declaratory relief but no monetary damages. (*Id.* ¶ 22; A11.) The relief sought pertains only to the District of Columbia and is based specifically upon misrepresentations to consumers in the District. (*Id.* ¶¶ 21-22, 57-60; A11, A17-18; Prayer for Relief; A19-20.)

On July 28, 2023, Sambazon moved to dismiss based on choice-of-law principles, arguing that its being headquartered in California creates a conflict of law between the District's CPPA and California's consumer protection statutory scheme, the Unfair Competition Law (UCL), California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 *et seq.* Both the CPPA and the UCL prohibit false or misleading

advertising. The conflict, Sambazon asserted, was that California's UCL requires private plaintiffs to establish injury-in-fact through lost money or property, while the CPPA does not. (MTD at 7-9; A32-34.) Sambazon argued that under the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts, to which DC courts look in the face of a true conflict, California is the forum with the most significant relationship to the dispute. (*Id.* at 9-13; A34-38.)

Sambazon also argued that CAL lacks standing to bring the action. Sambazon contended that that (1) Article III standing requirements apply to nonprofit actions under the CPPA, which CAL could not meet because of the lack of injury-in-fact (*Id.* at 13-15; A38-40); and (2) a public interest organization can have DC Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(D) standing only if it identifies a specific consumer or class of consumers who have standing, which CAL did not do in its Complaint (*Id.* at 15-16; A40-41).

Finally, Sambazon argued that CAL failed to state a claim for relief. It asserted that CAL had not pled any false or misleading statements, or what consumers understand ethically sourced to mean. Sambazon asserted that ethical sourcing is not "merely limited to the issue of forced or child labor"; that it did not make specific guarantees against child labor; and that CAL failed to allege facts that that would show child labor was actually occurring in its supply chain. (*Id.* at 16-19; A41-44.)

CAL opposed dismissal on September 13, 2023. CAL noted that the CPPA provides "maximum standing" for public interest organizations, above and beyond

the requirements of Article III, and does not require injury-in-fact. (Opposition (Opp.) at 2-6; A328-32.) CAL also argued that there was no choice-of-law issue, because (1) the Complaint seeks to end unlawful conduct in the District only, (2) Sambazon sells and markets products in the District, and (3) such questions are usually not appropriate for a motion to dismiss. (*Id.* at 7-10; A333-36.) Finally, CAL countered that the misrepresentations were actionable under the CPPA, and that the meaning of those representations, including "ethical sourcing," was clear. (*Id.* at 10-15; A336-41.)² Sambazon replied in support of the motion to dismiss on October 10, 2023.

On November 11, 2023, the Superior Court, by Hon. Shana Frost Matini, granted Sambazon's motion based on choice of law [hereinafter Order.] The court looked to whether a true conflict existed between the District's CPPA and California's UCL and answered affirmatively: the distinction in how the CPPA and the UCL are written, with the CPPA permitting nonprofit public prosecution suits without injury and the UCL requiring financial injury to bring such cases, sufficed to show a true conflict existed. (Order at 3-4; A352-53.)

Since the court found that both jurisdictions had an interest here—the District in protecting its consumers and California in governing entities headquartered

² To the extent the District Court might disagree with the clarity of the allegations, CAL sought leave to amend. (*Id.* at 15; A341.)

there—it applied the four-part modified governmental interest analysis drawn from the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts Section 145: "(1) the place where the injury occurred; (2) the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred; (3) the residence, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties; and (4) the place where the relationship, if any, is centered." (*Id.* at 2, 4; A351, A353.)

The first factor broke for the District, as CAL alleged the injury occurred where Sambazon sold its products and that Sambazon aimed marketing and advertising at District consumers (*Id.* at 4-5; A353-54). The court found that the second factor favored California, as the court concluded that CAL had conceded that California was where defendant made its advertising and packaging decisions—in the court's view, where the injury was caused. The third factor favored neither jurisdiction, as neither party was domiciled or incorporated in the District. (Id. at 5; A354.) The fourth factor, the Superior Court found, favored California: in false advertising cases, the "plaintiff's relationship with the defendant" is where defendant has its primary place of business and makes its advertising policies. (*Id.* at 5-6; A354-55.) Balancing the factors, the court concluded that California law applied. The court then held that plaintiff failed to meet the California UCL's requirement of showing loss of money or property, and so granted the motion. (*Id.* at 6-7; A355-56.)

CAL appealed to this Court on December 1, 2023.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Açaí berries are an increasingly popular health food in the United States. This litigation arises from credible evidence of child labor in açaí berry supply chains, including that of Defendant Sambazon, despite Sambazon's consumer-facing representations to the contrary. Açaí berries come from the Amazon rainforest, growing on spindly trees that can reach up to 65 feet high. Because there is no widespread mechanized process for harvesting açaí berries, workers must climb up trees with machetes to cut the berries down—tall, thin trees incapable of bearing much weight. The workers rarely have any protection beyond wearing burlap over their feet; injuries, particularly from falling, are common and sometimes fatal. A 2016 Brazilian government study, for example, found that nine out of every ten açaí harvesters had a family member suffer an injury in the industry. (Compl. ¶¶ 3, 32-33, 37; A7, A13.)

The açaí harvesting industry is rife with child labor, since children, with their lighter frames, are more able to scramble up the trees. Child labor is a "crucial element" of the extraction process. Due to the growing açaí market, children now climb 10 or more trees a day, even needing to jump from one tree to another. In 2022, the United States Department of Labor added açaí to its "List of Goods Produced by Child Labor or Forced Labor." (*Id.* ¶¶ 32-35; A13-14.)

Plaintiff CAL is a nonprofit public interest organization focused on labor and other human rights violations. CAL aims to hold corporations nationwide accountable for widespread abuse of worker rights. To that end, CAL works to inform the public, including District consumers, about labor and sustainability problems in various industries, including through publication of articles and reports about labor issues. (*Id.* ¶¶ 5, 20, 56; A7, A10, A17.) CAL brought the instant CPPA suit in an effort to keep consumers informed of such labor abuses. (*Id.* ¶¶ 20-22; A10-11.)

Defendant Sambazon is a privately held company headquartered in California and incorporated in Delaware, and one of this country's largest importers and merchants of açaí products. Sambazon's products are available in a range of stores in the District, as well as nationwide. (*Id.* ¶¶ 6, 53; A8, A17.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred in dismissing CAL's complaint based on its choice of law analysis, which led it to wrongly apply California law to CAL's claim. First, no true conflict existed between District and California law, because applying the District's law would further the District's policies, where the policies of California would not be advanced. The CPPA is the nation's broadest consumer protection law, and it reflects the District's policy favoring nonprofit or public interest organizations bringing claims on behalf of consumers. The Legislature has amended the CPPA to

push back against any "chilling effect" on the ability of organizational plaintiffs to bring suits in consumers' interests. The CPPA also reflects the District's policy of bringing action to halt potential harm, not just on responding to past harm. Applying the CPPA to CAL's claims—just the sort of public interest organization, prophylactic claim on behalf of District consumers' rights that the District favors—would further District policy. Applying the UCL, which is not concerned with District consumers or public interest organizations standing in for those consumers, and not similarly focused on stopping misrepresentations before they harm consumers, would not further a California interest in this matter. Thus, there was no true conflict. Moreover, there was no true conflict because CAL could have established organizational standing in California, given California's relatively liberal organization standing rules and CAL's role as a labor rights nonprofit expending resources on the issue. No Restatement analysis was necessary.

Second, even if a true conflict existed, the lower court erred in how it weighed the four Restatement factors used to determine which jurisdiction had the greater interest. The court found that both Factor Two—where the conduct causing the injury occurred—and Factor Four—where the relationship was centered—favored California. But both factors should have favored neither jurisdiction, leaving the balance of factors favoring District law.

While the Superior Court granted Sambazon's motion to dismiss solely on choice of law, Sambazon raised two other arguments as well. Neither provides a ground for upholding the dismissal. Sambazon argued that CAL lacks standing, but CAL has standing to pursue this matter as a public interest organization under D.C. Code Section 28-3905(k)(1)(D) and as a nonprofit under Section (k)(1)(C). Sambazon contended that CAL had failed to state a claim for relief under the CPPA, but CAL alleged facts showing that Sambazon made actionable misrepresentations.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Trial court orders granting a motion to dismiss are reviewed *de novo*. *See Wetzel v. Capital City Real Estate, LLC*, 73 A.3d 1000, 1002 (D.C. 2013) (citing *Hillbroom v. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP*, 17 A.3d 566, 573 (D.C. 2011)). Choice-of-law issues are also subject to *de novo* review. *See Washkoviak v. Sallie Mae*, 900 A.2d 168, 180 (D.C. 2006) (citations omitted). On appeal from a motion to dismiss, this Court "take[s] all factual allegations in the complaint as true." *Papageorge v. Zucker*, 169 A.3d 861, 863 (D.C. 2017) (citing *Solers, Inc. v. Doe*, 977 A.2d 941, 947-48 (D.C. 2009)). Any "uncertainties or ambiguities" must be resolved in the plaintiff's favor; to affirm a grant of dismissal, it must be "self-evident from the face of the complaint" that the plaintiff cannot succeed. *Washkoviak*, 900 A.2d at 180. Complaints "need not plead law, nor do they have to match facts to every element

of a legal theory." *ALDF v. Hormel Foods Corp.*, 258 A.3d 174, 188 (D.C. 2021) (quotations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Superior Court Erred in Dismissing CAL's Complaint Based on Choice of Law.

District of Columbia courts apply a two-step analysis to choice-of-law questions. First, they assess whether there is a "true conflict" between the District's law and the law of the foreign jurisdiction allegedly sharing an interest in the matter. Pietrangelo v. Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr, LLP, 68 A.3d 697, 714 (D.C. 2013). A "true conflict" arises when the two jurisdictions' laws are different and would produce different results in the case at bar. Id.; see also Krukas v. AARP, Inc., 376 F. Supp. 3d 1, 27 (D.D.C. 2019); Levine v. Am. Psychological Ass'n (In re APA Assessment Fee Litig.), 766 F.3d 39, 51 (D.C. 2014). A "false conflict" occurs where states' laws are "1) the same; 2) different but would produce the same outcome under the facts of the case; or 3) when the policies of one state would be furthered by the application of its laws while the policy of the other state would not be advanced by the application of its laws." Samenow v. Citicorp Credit Servs., 253 F. Supp. 3d 197, 203 (D.D.C. 2017); see also Barimany v. Urban Pace, LLC, 73 A.3d 964, 967 (D.C. 2013). A conflict of laws "does not exist when the laws of the different jurisdiction are identical or would produce the identical result on the facts presented." USA Waste, Inc. v. Love, 954 A.2d 1027, 1032 (D.C. 2008) (citing Greaves v. State Farm

Ins. Co., 984 F. Supp. 12, 14 (D.D.C. 1997)). The absence of a true conflict requires the application of District law by default. *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 714.

If a true conflict is identified, then District law evaluates which jurisdiction has the greater interest by looking to four factors enumerated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws Section 145. See Iron Vine Sec., LLC v. Cygnacom Sols., Inc., 274 A.3d 328, 348-49 (D.C. 2022). Those factors are: "(a) the place where the injury occurred, (b) the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred, (c) the domicil[e], residence, nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties, and (d) the place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered." Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws Section 145(2); see also Washkoviak, 900 A.2d at 180. These factors are to be evaluated "according to their relative importance with respect to the particular issue." Id. If the Restatement factors do not favor either jurisdiction, the forum jurisdiction's law should apply. See Levine, 766 F.3d 39 at 55 (citing Washkoviak, 900 A.2d at 182).

A. The Superior Court erred in finding a true conflict between the consumer protection laws of the District of Columbia and California on the facts of this case.

The Superior Court found that a true conflict existed between California's UCL and the District's CPPA. The court observed that the laws are not written identically: the CPPA permits public interest organizations to act as private prosecutors standing in the shoes of District consumers, without themselves having

to suffer an injury. The UCL, by contrast, requires that any plaintiff have suffered an "injury in fact and ha[ve] lost money or property." (Order at 3; A352 (citing D.C. Code § 28-3905(k) and Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204).) Based on this difference, the Superior Court concluded that District law "would allow a nonprofit to bring the instant case, whereas California would not," and so moved on to consider the four Restatement factors. (Order at 4; A353.)

The Superior Court erred in finding a true conflict.³

1. There was no true conflict because application of District law would advance District policy, while application of California law would not advance California policy.

First, there was no true conflict because "the policies of [the District] would be furthered by the application of its laws while the policy of [California] would not be advanced by the application of its laws." *Samenow*, 253 F. Supp. 3d at 203.

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