In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



CORPORATE ACCOUNTABILITY LAB,

Appellant,

ν.

SAMBAZON, INC.,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division in Case 2023 CAB 1954 (Honorable Shana Frost Matini, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

BRIAN D. KOOSED, ESQ. VENABLE LLP DC BAR No. 1034733 600 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 344-4118 BDKoosed@Venable.com

Attorney for Appellee

June 3, 2024



RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

Summary of Argument

This Court should affirm the Superior Court's Order dismissing CAL's Complaint as a matter of law.

As to choice of law, the Superior Court properly found that a true conflict exists between California's UCL and D.C.'s CPPA on the facts pled in the Complaint. Indeed, CAL *never* disputed the existence of a true conflict below, only now doing so for the first time on appeal. (*Compare* App. 333–36 (CAL's opposition on choice of law issues below), *with* Br., pp. 13–20.) CAL has thus waived any argument that no true conflict exists here. *See infra*, pp. 14–15.

Even if it had not waived the argument, however (and CAL did waive it), CAL's argument still fails on the merits. As this Court has recognized, a legal rule that exonerates a defendant is entitled to the same weight in the choice of law analysis as one that imposes liability. So too here, CAL cannot side-step the standing requirements of California's UCL simply by pleading this action under D.C.'s CPPA, particularly when *nothing* in the CPPA's case law, text, or legislative history reflects an intent to abrogate D.C.'s traditional choice of law analysis in the CPPA context. *See infra*, pp. 16–23. Nor does CAL's invocation of organizational standing under California law—in an effort to turn the true conflict between D.C. and California law here into a false one—hold up. *See infra*, pp. 23–25.

Finally, upon correctly concluding that a true conflict existed, the Superior Court properly applied this Court's precedent—and the modified governmental interest analysis embodied in it—to find that California has the most significant relationship to this dispute, which is premised, at bottom, on alleged misrepresentations by Sambazon. *See infra*, pp. 25–34.

Because the Superior Court correctly dismissed CAL's Complaint on choice of law grounds, this Court, like the Superior Court below, need not address Sambazon's other bases for dismissal. (*See* App. 350 n. 1.) Nevertheless, if the Court is inclined to do so, those separate grounds independently support dismissal of CAL's Complaint as a matter of law. *See infra*, pp. 34–41.

Argument

I. The Superior Court Correctly Dismissed CAL's Complaint on Choice of Law Grounds.

The Order should be affirmed in the first instance because the Superior Court correctly found that California's UCL applies here, not D.C.'s CPPA. (*See* App. 350–56.) Specifically, and as set forth below, the Superior Court correctly applied this Court's precedent, first determining whether a "true conflict" existed between California and D.C. law. (*See* App. 351–53.) Finding that "the District of Columbia would allow a nonprofit to bring the instant claim . . . whereas California would not," the Superior Court found such a "true conflict" existed. (App. 353, citing *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 714 (finding a true conflict existed where Massachusetts law permitted a claim against the defendant law firm, but D.C. law did not).)

The Superior Court then correctly proceeded to apply this Court's "modified governmental interest factors" to determine whether California or D.C. had the most significant relationship to the dispute, and found California did. (App. 353–56.) Because California law applied, and CAL could not maintain its suit under California's UCL, the Superior Court thus dismissed the Complaint. (*Id.*)

In response to the Superior Court's well-reasoned analysis—which merely applied established and long-standing precedent from this Court—CAL throws the proverbial kitchen sink in its Brief, to no avail. As set forth below, the Superior Court got it right, and each of CAL's arguments to the contrary fail.

A. <u>CAL never disputed that a "true conflict" between California and D.C. law exists below; it has thus waived that argument on appeal.</u>

Initially, CAL devotes a substantial portion of its Brief to arguing that no "true conflict" exists between California's UCL and D.C.'s CPPA. (*See* Br., pp. 13–20.) CAL *never* raised this argument below, however. (*See* App. 333–36.) CAL has thus waived the argument here.

It "is a well established principle of appellate review that arguments not made at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal." D.C. v. Califano, 647 A.2d 761, 765 (D.C. 1994). Instead, D.C. courts "rely on parties, particularly when they are represented by counsel, to preserve the arguments that may bring them relief and press them on appeal." Nawaz v. Bloom Residential, LLC, 308 A.3d 1215, 1231 (D.C. 2024). This Court thus regularly rejects arguments raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., Rayner v. Yale Steam Laundry Condo. Ass'n, 289 A.3d 387, 401 n. 46 (D.C. 2023) (declining to consider appellant's argument that he was entitled to amend as a matter of course because it was "not raised below"); Nawaz, 308 A.3d at 1231 (declining to consider damages as a potential basis for reversal because appellant "never identified damages as a contested issue" either below or on appeal); Stone v. Landis Const. Co., 120 A.3d 1287, 1291 n. 8 (D.C. 2015) (noting appellant's statutory CPPA argument was raised for the first time on appeal).

This Court deviates from this principle "only in exceptional situations and when necessary to prevent a clear miscarriage of justice apparent from the record." *Thornton v. Norwest Bank of Minnesota*, 860 A.2d 838, 842 (D.C. 2004). There is nothing exceptional about the situation here. Sambazon moved to dismiss, explicitly arguing, in a separate header in its motion, that "*California and D.C. consumer protections laws conflict*" and explaining why. (App. 33–34 (emphasis in original).)

In response, CAL had every opportunity to argue, as it does now on appeal, that: (i) D.C.'s CPPA does not conflict with California's UCL; or (ii) CAL has standing under California's UCL. (*See* Br., pp. 13–20.) CAL never made either argument below, instead arguing only that: (i) it has the right to choose the forum for its suit; (ii) any choice of law analysis had to wait for summary judgment; and (iii) the cases on which Sambazon relied were inapplicable. (App. 333–36.)

In sum, at no point did CAL dispute below that a true conflict exists between California's UCL and D.C.'s CPPA based on the facts pled in the Complaint. CAL cannot raise it now, for the first time on appeal. *Supra*, p. 14 (collecting cases).⁴

⁴ CAL's reliance on this Court's decision in *Charlton v. Mond* to avoid waiver is sorely misplaced. (*See* Br., p. 14 n. 3.) In *Charlton*, this Court held that defendant had not waived his personal jurisdiction defense by filing a motion to dismiss on that ground, then filing a counterclaim against the plaintiff when his motion to dismiss was denied. *Charlton v. Mond*, 987 A.2d 436, 440–41 (D.C. 2010). Here, by contrast, CAL simply failed to dispute the existence of a true conflict *at all* below. *Charlton* thus provides no help to CAL here.

B. Even if not waived, CAL's argument fails because there is a "true conflict" between California's UCL and D.C.'s CPPA here.

Even if CAL had not waived the argument (and CAL did), CAL's challenge to the existence of a true conflict still fails on the merits.

At the outset, and as the Superior Court acknowledged, both the CPPA and the UCL permit representative claims for injunctive relief against a party allegedly engaged in misleading advertising. (App. 352, *comparing* D.C. Code §§ 28-3904–05, *with* Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17203.) But *only* the CPPA grants such standing to an organization that has not, itself, been injured. (App. 352, citing D.C. Code §§ 28-3905(k)(1)(C)–(D).) The UCL, by contrast, does not. (App. 352, citing Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17203–204 and related case law confirming California's UCL only permits representative claims by a claimant who "*has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property*") (emphasis added).)

Faced with a Complaint that fails to allege CAL lost any money or property, or was otherwise injured by Sambazon, the Superior Court correctly concluded that D.C.'s CPPA would permit CAL to bring its suit, while California's UCL would not. (App. 353.) This is the quintessential "true conflict," as this Court and other D.C. courts have repeatedly acknowledged. *See Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 714 (finding true conflict because Massachusetts's consumer protection law permitted plaintiff's claim, but D.C.'s CPPA did not); *Iron Vine Sec.*, *LLC v. Cygnacom Sols.*, *Inc.*, 274 A.3d 328, 349–50 (D.C. 2022) (finding true conflict between D.C. law and Virginia

law on conspiracy); *Washkoviak*, 900 A.2d at 180 (implicitly recognizing true conflict between Wisconsin law and D.C.'s CPPA); *In re APA Assessment Fee Litigation*, 766 F.3d 39, 53 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (finding true conflict between California's UCL that permitted plaintiff's claim, and D.C.'s CPPA that did not); *Krukas v. AARP*, 376 F. Supp. 3d 1, 28 (D.D.C. 2019) (finding true conflict between Florida and Louisiana law, which would bar plaintiff's claim, and D.C.'s CPPA, which would not); *Margolis v. U-Haul Int'l*, 818 F. Supp. 2d 91, 101 (D.D.C. 2011) (finding true conflict because D.C.'s CPPA permits "a representative action for injunctive relief," while Maryland's consumer protection law did not).

To avoid the existence of a true conflict here—and therefore obviate the need to analyze the governmental interest factors that were fatal to CAL's Complaint below—CAL makes two arguments for the first time on appeal. Neither has merit.

1. CAL's policy argument is wrong and has no basis in the CPPA's case law, text, or legislative history.

For its first argument to avoid the existence of a true conflict—which, again, CAL never raised below—CAL argues that the CPPA "is prophylactic, designed to address potentially harmful conduct, and ongoing conduct," while the UCL only "seeks to remedy direct harms after they occur." (Br., pp. 15, 17.) Because, according to CAL, the UCL and CPPA serve different purposes, California has no interest in having its law applied here, so no conflict between the two State's laws exists. (*Id.*) This argument is wrong, both logically and legally.

First, logically speaking, CAL's argument makes little sense. If, as CAL claims, the CPPA and the UCL are designed to address different harms—through, among other things, different standing rules for different plaintiffs—that only underscores that the CPPA and the UCL do, in fact, conflict in this particular case. Thus, CAL's argument implicitly concedes the existence of a conflict here—even if CAL won't admit as much—because applying California's UCL yields a different result than D.C.'s CPPA, just as the Superior Court found. (App. 352–53.); see also Br., p. 12 (acknowledging "[a] 'true conflict' arises when the two jurisdictions' laws are different and would produce different results in the case at bar.").

Indeed, this is precisely why this Court and others have repeatedly recognized that a State's rule immunizing liability (like the UCL's standing rule here) is entitled to the same weight in the choice of law analysis as a rule creating liability (like the CPPA's). See, e.g., Jones v. Clinch, 73 A.3d 80, 82–83 (D.C. 2013) (affirming dismissal of CPPA claim because Maryland had a greater interest in the litigation, even though Maryland law exempted defendants from liability); Pietrangelo, 68 A.3d at 714 (recognizing that a conflict existed where Massachusetts law imposed liability and D.C. law did not); see also In re APA Assessment Fee Litig., 766 F.3d at 53 (interpreting Pietrangelo "to recognize that a rule of non-liability—reflecting a legislative purpose to protect defendants from litigation—can be owed the same consideration in the choice of law process as is a rule which imposes liability")

(citing Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145 cmt. c) (internal quotations omitted); *Amer. Nat'l Ins. Co. v. JPMorgan Chase & Co.*, 164 F. Supp. 3d 104, 109 (D.D.C. 2016) (rejecting plaintiff's argument that, because New York law immunized defendant, New York had no interest in having its law applied, finding that New York had "a significant governmental interest" in "protect[ing] its residents" from "liability for actions that New York does not consider tortious").

Second, and setting aside its logical flaws, there is no legal support for CAL's argument. At bottom, CAL argues that, by bringing a claim under the CPPA, a public-interest organization like CAL can exempt itself from the traditional choice of law analysis that would otherwise apply to any other claim under D.C. law. (Br., pp. 15–17.) This, according to CAL, is the necessary consequence of the D.C. Council's 2012 amendments to the CPPA, which effected "maximum standing" for public interest organizations like CAL. (Br., pp. 15–16.) But CAL cites *no* legal support for this argument. Nor could it. CAL's argument cannot be squared with either the existing case law under the CPPA, or its text and legislative history.

Case Law: As noted, both before and after the 2012 amendments to the CPPA, this Court and others have repeatedly found that a true conflict exists between the CPPA and the laws of other States where a plaintiff could bring a claim under the CPPA but could not under the foreign States' laws (or vice versa). For example, in *Jones v. Clinch*, this Court found the laws of Maryland and D.C. were "in conflict":

[B]ecause in Maryland, unlike the District of Columbia, appellant could not bring a consumer protection suit against appellees. As the [lower] court explained in its order: There is a conflict in the consumer protection laws. Maryland law exempts doctors from its consumer protection law, whereas the District has no such exemption.

Jones, 73 A.3d at 82 (internal citations omitted); see also Pietrangelo, 68 A.3d at 714 (reaching same conclusion where Massachusetts law permitted claim and D.C. law did not).

Similarly, in *Margolis v. U-Haul Int'l., Inc.*, a D.C. federal court found that a true conflict existed because the plaintiff could bring "a representative action for injunctive relief" under the CPPA—just like the one CAL sought to bring below—but could not do so under Maryland law. *Margolis*, 818 F. Supp. 2d at 101. Multiple other D.C. federal courts have reached the same conclusion. *In re APA Assessment Fee Litig.*, 766 F.3d at 53; *Krukas*, 376 F. Supp. 3d at 28.

These cases belie CAL's suggestion that another State (here, California) has no interest in having its law applied to a particular dispute because it would preclude liability where another State's law (here, D.C.'s) would impose it. Indeed, this Court and others have repeatedly recognized that California's interest here—regulating the conduct of companies at home there—is a substantial governmental interest. *See*, *e.g.*, *Washkoviak*, 900 A.2d at 180–81 ("Wisconsin has a powerful interest in protecting its residents from fraud and misrepresentation, while the District of

Columbia has an equally strong interest in ensuring that its corporate citizens refrain from fraudulent activities.") (emphasis added); Shaw v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 605 F.3d 1039, 1045-46 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (affirming dismissal of CPPA claim because D.C.'s "interest does not outweigh the interest of Maryland in ensuring corporations domiciled there do not mislead consumers").

Simply put, if CAL's argument were adopted, then it would necessarily call into question this Court's decisions in *Pietrangelo* and *Jones*, which held that D.C. and Maryland, respectively, had the greater interest in having their laws applied, even though in both cases those laws exonerated the defendant. *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 714 and *Jones*, 73 A.3d at 82. And it would similarly call into question all of the other cases that applied D.C.'s normal choice of law analysis to putative CPPA claims, often finding that the claims were barred by the laws of another State. *Supra*, pp. 16–17. In short, CAL's argument is simply not D.C. law. This Court should decline CAL's invitation to make it so.

The CPPA's Text and 2012 Amendments: Contrary to CAL's suggestion in its Brief, neither the 2012 amendments to the CPPA, nor the CPPA's text and legislative history generally, eliminate the need for a choice of law analysis here, or otherwise dictate a different result. (*See* Br., pp. 14–17.)

For example, CAL relies heavily on the Alexander Report in its Brief. (Br., pp. 15–16 & Addendum A.) But as that report makes clear, the CPPA's 2012 amendments sought to address this Court's decision in *Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219 (D.C. 2011), which was both clear, and limited: the Council's prior iteration of the CPPA did not evince a "clear or explicit intent . . . to disturb or override" the traditional requirement that a plaintiff satisfy Article III constitutional standing. 15 A.3d at 241–42. Accordingly, *Grayson* said *nothing* about conflicts of law or choice of law analysis. *See generally Grayson*, 15 A.3d 219.⁵

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